Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Yunyun Chen

Date

Assessment of Novel Biomarkers and CHA₂DS₂-VASc Score in Predicting Stroke

and All-cause Death in Patients With and Without Atrial Fibrillation

By

Yunyun Chen

MSPH

Emory University

Rollins School of Public Health

Department of Biostatistics and Bioinformatics

[Chair's signature]

Yi-An Ko

Committee Chair

[Member's signature]

Michael H Kutner

Assessment of Novel Biomarkers and CHA₂DS₂-VASc Score in Predicting Stroke and All-cause Death in Patients With and Without Atrial Fibrillation

By

Yunyun Chen

B.M., China Pharmaceutical University, 2014

MSPH, Emory University

Rollins School of Public Health

2016

Thesis Committee Chair: Yi-An Ko, Ph.D.

An abstract of

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the

Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Public Health

in Biostatistics

2016

Abstract

Assessment of Novel Biomarkers and CHA₂DS₂-VASc Score in Predicting Stroke and All-cause Death in Patients With and Without Atrial Fibrillation

By Yunyun Chen

Objective: Given that patients with atrial fibrillation (AF) have an increase in stroke risk, CHA₂DS₂-VASc has been recommended by the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines to manage AF. We considered five novel biomarkers, C-reactive protein (CRP), heat shock protein (HSP), fibrin degradation product (FDP), high sensitivity troponin, and soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor (suPAR) used in cardiovascular disease outcome prediction, to evaluate whether including these biomarkers improves the prediction performance for stroke and all-cause death.

Methods: A total of 383 adult patients with AF and 2,729 without AF were included in analysis, and all five biomarkers were collected at baseline. Proportional subdistribution hazards models and Cox proportional hazards models were used to analyze the relationship between stroke, death and CHA₂DS₂-VASc score and five biomarkers for patients with and without AF. C-statistics, continuous net reclassification improvement (NRI) and integrated discrimination improvement (IDI) were used to compare model prediction performance.

Results: When CHA₂DS₂-VASc changed from 0-1 to 6 or more, the cumulative incidence of stroke increased by 0.40 for those without AF at 2,500 days of follow-up. When predicting death, for one unit increase in CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, suPAR and FDP, the estimated hazard ratios were 1.28(95% CI=[1.16, 1.41]), 1.16(95% CI=[1.11, 1.21]) and 1.01(95% CI=[1.00, 1.02]). For patients without AF, with one unit increase in CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, suPAR and CRP, the estimated hazard ratios were 1.30(95% CI=[1.22, 1.35]), 1.20(95% CI=[1.17, 1.23]) and 1.01(95% CI=[1.00, 1.01]). The c-statistic improved significantly from 0.65(95% CI=[0.60,0.70]) to 0.71(95% CI=[0.66,0.76]) after adding suPAR and FDP for patients with AF, and improved from 0.63(95% CI=[0.58,0.69]) to 0.71(95% CI=[0.65,0.76]) after adding suPAR and CRP for patients without AF.

Conclusions: Our results suggest that CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, suPAR and FDP were significantly associated with all-cause death in patients with AF and CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, suPAR and CRP were significantly associated with all cause death in patients without AF. The models incorporating these biomarkers can refine the prediction probability. More research is needed to validate our results.

Assessment of Novel Biomarkers and CHA₂DS₂-VASc Score in Predicting Stroke

and All-cause Death in Patients With and Without Atrial Fibrillation

By

Yunyun Chen

B.M., China Pharmaceutical University, 2014

MSPH, Emory University

Rollins School of Public Health

2016

Thesis Committee Chair: Yi-An Ko, Ph.D.

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the

Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Public Health

in Biostatistics

2016

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my thesis advisor, Dr. Yi-An Ko, who gave me the opportunity to learn about real research by studying biomarkers in stroke. Also I thank her for excellent, detailed guidance, patience and help in editing my thesis. Special thanks to Dr. Michael H Kutner, who as a reader made revisions of my thesis and also give some great advice.

I would also thank all the faculty and staff in the Department of Biostatistics and Bioinformatics at the Rollins School of Public Health. I learned so many things during my two-year study here.

Lastly I want to thank my parents for their love and support throughout my education.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1 Atrial Fibrillation	1
1.2 Connection with Stroke	1
1.3 Existing Risk Scores for Predicting Stroke after Atrial Fibrillation	2
1.4 Limitations of Existing Risk Scores	3
1.5 Novel Biomarkers for Cardiovascular Disease	4
1.6 Study Goals	5
1.7 Significance	5
2. Methods	6
2.1 Study Population	6
2.2 CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc Score Calculation	6
2.3 Statistical Analysis	7
2.3.1 Descriptive Analysis	7
2.3.2 Univariate Analysis	7
2.3.3 Model Assessment	7
2.3.4 Multivariable Analysis	8
2.3.5 Model Prediction Performance Metrics	8
3. Results	9
3.1 Patient Characteristics	9
3.2 Association between CHA2DS2-VASc and Stroke	10
3.3 All-cause Death	11
3.4 Model Prediction Performance	11
4. Discussion	12
4.1 Results	12
4.2 Previous Study	12
4.3 Limitations	13
4.4 Future Research	13
4.5 Conclusions	14
References	20

1. Introduction

1.1 Atrial Fibrillation

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is the most common type of irregular heartbeat and is an important public health issue nowadays. The prevalence was 2% among adults in Europe in 2014 (and higher among older men), which almost doubled when compared with the rate a decade ago [1]. AF is predicted to affect 6-12 million people in the U.S. by 2050 [2]. The common risk factors for AF include hypertension and valvular heart disease. The most common symptom for AF is a fluttering heartbeat. Other common symptoms include fatigue, irregular heartbeat, dizziness and chest pain.

1.2 Connection with Stroke

Many studies have shown that AF is a strong independent risk factor for having a stroke [3]. With AF, patients are approximately five times more likely to have a stroke [1]. In general, patients with AF-related stroke have a worse prognosis that includes longer hospitalizations, and higher in-hospital mortality, compared to those without AF [4]. Most patients who suffer from severe stroke are less likely to live for more than one year. On the other hand, long-term stroke survivors typically have serious disabilities and their quality of life is seriously affected.

Given that AF is known to increase the risk of stroke, it is critical to predict and manage the risk of stroke for patients with AF. Based on a precise risk prediction algorithm, appropriate treatment or prevention strategies can be applied to reduce stroke incidence and/or disabilities resulting from stroke. For instance, if we can predict the risk accurately and identify patients with high risks of stroke, reliable guidance can be provided by clinicians to prescribe antithrombotic therapy in advance [5]. Risk stratification schemes may also be very useful for the management of patients who already have had a stroke [5].

1.3 Existing Risk Scores for Predicting Stroke after Atrial Fibrillation

Atrial Fibrillation Investigators (AFI 1994) used increasing age, history of hypertension, previous transient ischemic heart attack or stroke and diabetes as risk factors for stroke [6]. Robert G. Hart (1999, SPAF investigators) showed age, female sex, history of hypertension, systolic blood pressure>160 mmHg and prior stroke or transient ischemic heart attack were independently associated with increased stroke risk [3]. Gage BF (2004) used CHADS₂ scheme, which includes congestive heart failure, hypertension, age 275, diabetes mellitus and prior stroke or transient ischemic heart attack to successfully identify patients who are at high risk of stroke [5]. The Framingham Heart Study (2003) used advancing age, female sex, increasing systolic blood pressure, prior stroke or transient ischemic heart attack and diabetes to derive a risk score for stroke [6]. The National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) guidelines (2006) used age >65 or age >75, hypertension, diabetes, vascular disease and clinical evidence of valve disease or heart failure, or impaired left ventricular function as risk score factors [7]. The ACA/AHA/ESC guidelines (2006) used age \geq 75, hypertension, heart failure, left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) \leq 35%, diabetes, previous stroke, transient ischemic attack (TIA) or embolism as risk factors [8]. The American College of Chest Physicians (ACCP 2008) used age, hypertension, moderately or severely impaired LVEF, heart failure, diabetes mellitus, previous stroke, TIA, or having an embolism as risk factors to derive risk scores [9]. Birmingham (2009) used congestive heart failure or impaired LFEV, hypertension, age \geq 75, diabetes mellitus, stroke or TIA or thromboembolism (TE), vascular disease (prior myocardial infarction, peripheral artery disease, or aortic plaque), age 65-74 years old and sex as risk factors, with the acronym CHA₂DS₂-VASc [10]. Now CHA₂DS₂-VASc has been recommended by the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines to manage AF.

1.4 Limitations of Existing Risk Scores

Although the American College of Chest Physicians (ACCP) and Canadian Cardiovascular Society guidelines recommended the CHADS₂ score [11][12], the CHADS₂ score may not categorize patients precisely into truly low risk of stroke [13]. When patients are categorized into different risk levels, they are treated differently. For example, when a patient's CHADS₂ score equals 1, he/she does not need to be treated with anticoagulation. When calculating the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score for the same patient, the score may be greater than two because more risk factors are considered in CHA₂DS₂-VASc. This means oral anticoagulation is needed [14]. Thus, for patients with CHADS₂ scores less than two, utilization of risk stratification by applying CHA₂DS₂-VASc is needed [14].

CHA₂DS₂-VASc score has been used in the European Society of Cardiology [15] and can better identify truly low-risk patients compared to CHADS₂ [10]. Most importantly, fewer patients are regarded as intermediated risk, which offers significant aid to clinical decision making. In other words, physicians do not need to choose aspirin or oral anticoagulant treatment [16]. However, CHA₂DS₂-VASc has a low specificity and tends to classify more patients as high risk. Patients with high risk of stroke usually are treated with long-term anticoagulants. This may expose them to unnecessary bleeding risk [16].

1.5 Novel Biomarkers for Cardiovascular Disease

C-reactive protein (CRP), heat shock protein (HSP), fibrin degradation product (FDP), high sensitivity troponin, and soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor (suPAR) are known to be related to cardiovascular disease. CRP is an annular, pentameric protein found in blood plasma, whose levels rise in response to inflammation [17]. CRP concentration is associated with the risk of coronary heart disease and ischemic stroke [18]. HSP is a family of proteins that are produced by cells in response to exposure to stressful conditions [19]. HSP has a protective effect in AF in many cardiomyopathy conditions [20]. Fibrin degradation product is a component of the blood produced by clot degeneration [21]. The primary degradation product of cross-linked fibrin is D-dimer and it is associated with the risk of a future myocardial infarction [22]. High sensitivity troponin-I (hs-TnI) level is associated with risk of stroke and by adding hs-TnI levels to CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, the c-statistic for stroke prediction has been shown to improve [23]. suPAR is a marker of disease severity and

aggressiveness [24]. Moreover, it is associated with an increased incidence of ischemic stroke [25]. Given that these five biomarkers are strongly associated with cardiovascular disease, we investigated their contributions to stroke prediction and their ability to refine current risk scores.

1.6 Study Goals

All of the existing risk scores prediction methods are useful for predicting risk of stroke in patients with AF. However, they may not give accurate predictions in certain scenarios or sub-groups. For example, CHADS₂ cannot predict risk accurately for truly low risk patients. And both CHADS₂ and CHA₂DS₂-VASc have limited ability to predict stoke in patients with AF for Taiwanese compared to Western patients[26]. The prediction ability of one year prognosis of stroke is also limited for Chinese patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation (NVAF) [27]. The purpose of this study was to develop a novel risk score algorithm for stroke and all-cause mortality based on the CHA₂DS₂-VASc while incorporating the aforementioned five biomarkers.

1.7 Significance

With the novel risk score, risk of stroke in patients with AF can be better predicted. Then appropriate treatments can be used for these patients and disabilities resulting from stroke can be reduced.

2. Methods

2.1 Study Population

Our study patients came from a subset of the Emory Cardiology Biobank, which was established to investigate the genetic basis of oxidative stress, vascular dysfunction, cardiovascular disease and stroke [28]. Specifically, our analysis sample consists of a total of 383 adult patients (aged 18 years or older) with AF and 2,729 without AF enrolled in the Biobank prior to undergoing cardiac catheterization across three Emory Healthcare sites, between 2004 and 2015. Various clinical variables were collected at enrollment, including age, race, medical history (including history of hypertension, diabetes mellitus, coronary artery disease, peripheral artery disease, heart failure and prior myocardial infarction), treatment history (including use of angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) inhibitor / angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitor, use of aspirin and statins). In addition, the levels of the five biomarkers of interest, CRP, HSP, FDP, high sensitivity troponin and suPAR, were also recorded. Furthermore, information about whether patients developed stroke or not and the time to stroke (in days) was also gathered. For patients who died during the follow up, the date of death was collected as well.

The Institutional Review Board at Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA approved the study. All patients agreed to be enrolled in the study.

2.2 CHA₂DS₂-VASc Score Calculation

According to CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, patients were given 1 point for congestive heart failure or left ventricular dysfunction, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, vascular disease (prior myocardial infarction, peripheral artery disease, or aortic plaque), age 65-74 years and female. They were given 2 points for age older or equal to 75 years and stroke or TIA or TE. These were all calculated based on baseline characteristics.

2.3 Statistical Analysis2.3.1 Descriptive Analysis

Continuous variables were summarized as mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Given the skewed distribution of the five biomarkers, they were summarized using median and lower and upper quartiles. Categorical variables were summarized using counts and percentages.

2.3.2 Univariate Analysis

Baseline characteristics were compared between patients with AF and those without using the chi-square test for categorical variables and the two sample t-test for continuous variables. The Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to test the differences in the five biomarkers between the two groups.

2.3.3 Model Assessment

Prior to fitting a Cox proportional hazard model, we calculated the cumulative martingale residuals to check the function form of each variable. Martingale residuals are the difference between observed number of events and the expected numbers according to fitted model for a specific individual. The plot for cumulative martingale residuals is a partial-sum process of the residuals and can be used to see how unusual the observed process is under the model [29]. Variable transformation needs to be considered if the pattern of the plot is unusual. In our study, each continuous biomarker

was added in the Cox model with stroke as the outcome separately. According to the Kolmogorov-type supremum test based on a sample of 1,000 simulated residual patterns, the p-values for high sensitivity troponin, suPAR, CRP, FDP and HSP were all larger than 0.05, thus we treated all biomarkers as continuous variables for analysis.

2.3.4 Multivariable Analysis

Separate models were used to analyze the relationship between time to stroke and other explanatory variables including CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, CRP, HSP, FDP, high sensitivity troponin and suPAR for patients with and without AF. As death was the competing risk for stroke, the extension of the Cox regression (proportional sub-distribution hazards model) developed by Fine and Gray [30], was used. When death was regarded as the outcome, the Cox model was used to analyze the relation between death and CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, CRP, HSP, FDP, high sensitivity troponin and suPAR. The final model contained all significant biomarkers.

2.3.5 Model Prediction Performance Metrics

To compare the clinical model with only CHA₂DS₂-VASc score and the model with significant biomarkers, Uno methods for c-statistics [31] and Uno and Tianxi Cai's methods for continuous net reclassification improvement (NRI) /integrated discrimination improvement (IDI) [32] were used. C-statistics can be used to measure concordance between observed and model-based risk [33]. It is the probability that the model predicts a higher risk for individuals who experienced an event than those who did not [33]. A c-statistic of 1 represents perfect discrimination. When it is greater than

0.7, the model is considered reasonable [34]. In a setting of binary outcome, the cstatistic equals the area under the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve, which is a plot of sensitivity vs 1 minus specificity [33]. An R package **survC1** was used to calculate c-statistics for each model and compare the difference in c-statistics between models. NRI and IDI can be used to evaluate predictive improvement in reclassification for models with censored survival data by comparing two risk prediction models. NRI sums up two parts, one for patients with event and other for patients without events. For those with event, 1 is assigned if they have upward reclassification, -1 for downward and 0 for those not change. For patients without event, the score will be assigned oppositely. Then the total sum score is divided by the number of people in each group. An R package **survIDINRI** was used to calculated NRI and IDI.

All statistical analysis was conducted using SAS 9.4 (Cary, NC) and R 3.2.2. P-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

3. Results

3.1 Patient Characteristics

The study population comprised 3,112 patients with a median follow-up time of five years. A total of 383 patients (12.3%) had a diagnosis of AF at baseline. Baseline characteristics of these patients are presented in Table 1. Forty-nine (12.8%) and 189 (6.9%) patients with and without AF had a stroke history, respectively. There were significant differences in gender, age, race, heart failure and prior stroke for patients with and without AF. The group of patients with AF had fewer women, fewer African Americans, more people with heart failure and stroke at baseline than the group without

AF. Patients with AF were older and had higher biomarker levels than the patients without AF.

The distributions of CHA₂DS₂-VASc scores in the study population stratified by presence of AF are shown in Table 2. A total of 20 (5.2%) patients with AF and 79 (2.9%) patients without AF developed stroke during the follow-up period. Forty percent of the patients with AF had a CHA₂DS₂-VASc score from 2 to 3 while 47.4% of the patients without AF were in this score range. Forty percent of the patients with AF and 41.8% without AF developed stroke had a CHA₂DS₂VASc score from 4 to 5. Forty-two percent of the patients with AF died during follow-up had CHA₂DS₂-VASc scores from 4 to 5 while 39.7% of the patients without AF died had CHA₂DS₂-VASc scores from 2 to 3.

3.2 Association between CHA₂DS₂-VASc and Stroke

We did not find significant an association between CHA_2DS_2 -VASc and time to stroke in patients with AF, possibly due to the small number of events in our data. On the other hand, for patients without AF, CHA_2DS_2VASc was a significant predictor for stroke (p <0.0001). Figure 1 shows the cumulative incidence functions for stroke among patients with various CHA_2DS_2 -VASc scores. When CHA_2DS_2 -VASc changed from 0-1 to 6 or more, the cumulative incidence of stroke increased by 0.40 for those without AF at 2,500 days of follow-up. The findings confirmed that the CHA_2DS_2 -VASc was sensitive and useful for stroke risk prediction in patients without AF. However, none of the five biomarkers was found to be significantly associated with stroke (when considering death as a competing risk).

3.3 All-cause Death

Table 3 shows the results of the Cox models when death was treated as the outcome. For patients with AF, CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, suPAR and FDP were significant for predicting death. For one unit increase in CHA₂DS₂VASc score, suPAR and FDP, the estimated hazard ratios were 1.28(95% CI=[1.16, 1.41]), 1.16(95% CI=[1.11, 1.21]) and 1.01(95% CI=[1.00, 1.02]). For patients without AF, -VA CHA₂DS₂Sc score, suPAR and CRP were significant for predicting death. For one unit increase in CHA₂DS₂Sc -VASc score, suPAR and CRP, the estimated hazard ratios were 1.30(95% CI=[1.22, 1.35]), 1.20(95% CI=[1.17, 1.23]) and 1.01(95% CI=[1.00, 1.01]). We found that suPAR was useful for predicting death for both AF and non-AF groups.

Figure 2 shows the cumulative incidence functions for patients with various CHA₂DS₂-VASc scores using death as the outcome including significant covariates. When CHA₂DS₂-VASc changed from 0-1 to 6 or more, the cumulative incidence of death increased by 0.05 for patients with AF and 0.37 for those without AF at 2,500 days of follow-up, respectively.

3.4 Model Prediction Performance

Table 4 shows the prediction performance metrics of the above survival models, including the c-statistic, continuous NRI and IDI. For patients with AF, the c-statistic for the model with CHA_2DS_2 -VASc score only was 0.65(95% CI=[0.60,0.70]). The c-statistic improved significantly to 0.71(95% CI=[0.66,0.76]) after adding suPAR and FDP to the model. For patients without AF, the c-statistic for the model with CHA_2DS_2 -

VASc score only was 0.63(95% CI=[0.58,0.69]). The c-statistic improved significantly to 0.71(95% CI=[0.65,0.76]) after adding suPAR and CRP. Thus, by adding biomarkers to the model, the prediction performance was improved.

4. Discussion

4.1 Results

Even though we did not find CHA₂DS₂-VASc score to be useful for predicting stroke in our 383 patients with AF, it is significantly associated with stroke in patients without AF. On the other hand, the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score is useful for predicting death. Among the five biomarkers, only suPAR was associated with death for patients with and without AF. FDP was associated with death for patients with AF and CRP was associated with death for patients without AF. In terms of model prediction performance, adding new biomarkers better predicted death risk compared to the model with CHA₂DS₂-VASc score only.

4.2 Previous Study

A previous study reported significant association between CHA₂DS₂-VASc score and risk of ischemic stroke for patients with heart failure with and without AF [35]. When predicting death, the results of our study were similar with the previous study in showing that CHA₂DS₂-VASc score could be used to predict death [35]. Our findings with regards to biomarkers are consistent with previous studies. In a prospective study, Eugen-Olsen et al. found that risks of cancer, CVD and mortality increase with suPAR levels in Caucasians [36]. FDP has been shown to be a strong predictor of death and myocardial infarction [37]. The Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration showed associations between CRP and vascular mortality and death from cancers [18]. Our study verified these results.

4.3 Limitations

Unfortunately, the sample size of patients with AF and the number of stroke events in our study were small. Hence, the prediction ability of CHA₂DS₂-VASc score was inconclusive and was inconsistent when compared to previous studies. We also did not find significant associations between biomarkers and stroke, which needs further investigations in larger cohorts. In addition, all the study patients were from the Emory Cardiovascular Biobank database, so the findings may not be generalized to other populations. Another limitation was related to the uncertainty of AF status at enrollment. In fact, up to 25% of the AFs were silent, and a study showed that patients without AF may actually have undiagnosed AF [38]. Moreover, patients may develop AF during the follow-up period. Lastly, we were unable to account for anticoagulation treatments due to lack of data. Some patients with high CHA₂DS₂-VASc scores may have been treated with anticoagulation by the time of enrollment, thereby significantly reducing their risks of developing stroke.

4.4 Future Research

To validate the results of our study, independent cohort studies with more patients with and without AF and patients from other hospitals in the U.S. or other countries are needed. Additionally, a longitudinal study with regular follow-ups collecting patient's medical information including change of AF status, treatment, and biomarker levels can be extremely useful for the development of a dynamic prediction algorithm for stroke or death. This risk prediction algorithm has the potential to provide real-time information to guide AF management.

4.5 Conclusions

Our results suggest that CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, suPAR and FDP were significantly associated with all-cause death in patients with AF and CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, suPAR and CRP were significantly associated with all-cause death in patients without AF. The models incorporating these biomarkers can refine the prediction probability. More research is needed to validate our results.

	No. (%) of Patients			
	Atrial			
	Fibrillation	Fibrillation	p-value	
Baseline Characteristics	(n=383)	(n=2729)		
Female	107(27.9)	1007(36.9)	< 0.001	
Age at baseline, mean (SD)	69.13(10.6)	62.61(11.3)	< 0.001	
Race			< 0.001	
Caucasian White	338(88.3)	2176(79.7)		
African American	39(10.2)	528(19.3)		
Other	6(1.5)	35(1.0)		
History of Hypertension	232(60.6)	1602(58.7)	0.486	
History of Diabetes Mellitus	109(28.5)	7893(32.7)	0.094	
Coronary Artery Disease	234(61.1)	1591(58.3)	0.298	
Peripheral Artery Disease	24(6.3)	227(8.3)	0.167	
Heart Failure	138(36.0)	439(16.1)	< 0.00	
Prior Stroke	49(12.8)	189(6.9)	< 0.00	
Prior Myocardial Infarction	129(33.7)	856(31.4)	0.362	
ARBs/ACE inhibitors Use	267(69.7)	1734(63.5)	0.018	
Aspirin Use	301(78.6)	2207(80.9)	0.290	
Statin Use	276(72.1)	1977(72.4)	0.876	
High sensitivity troponin (pg/Ml),				
median (Q_1, Q_3)	8.9(4.5, 26.1)	5.1(2.8, 13.6)	< 0.000	
Heat shock protein 70 (ng/Ml),				
median (Q_1, Q_3)	0(0, 1)	0(0,0)	0.0015	
Fibrin degradation product				
(ug/Ml), median (Q_1, Q_3)	0.6(0.4, 1.0)	0.54(0.4, 0.8)	0.0050	
suPAR (ng/Ml), median (Q ₁ ,Q ₃)	3.4(2.7, 4.6)	2.98(2.3, 3.9)	< 0.000	
C-reactive protein (mg/Dl), median				
(Q_1,Q_3)	3.1(1.3, 8.2)	3(1.2, 7.5)	0.2134	
ARBs inhibitors: Angiotensin Receptor Blocker	s inhibitor			
ACE inhibitors: angiotensin converting enzyme	(ACE) inhibitor			
suPAR: soluable urokinase-type plasminogen a	ctivator receptor			

Table 1 Baseline Characteristic of the Stroke Biomarkers StratifiedAccording to Prior Diagnosis of Atrial Fibrillation

		No. (%) of Patients					
		Atrial			No Atrial		
		Fibrillation	Stroke	Death	Fibrillation	Stroke	Death
		(n=383)	(n=20)	(n=133)	(n=2729)	(n=79)	(n=459)
CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc							
	0,1	70(18.28)	3(15)	9(6.77)	735(26.93)	8(10.13)	55(11.98)
	2,3	154(40.21)	7(35)	44(33.08)	1295(47.45)	28(35.44)	182(39.65)
	4,5	113(29.50)	8(40)	56(42.11)	576(21.11)	33(41.77)	167(36.38)
	≥6	46(12.01)	2(10)	24(18.04)	123(4.51)	10(12.66)	55(11.98)

Table 2 Baseline CHA₂DS₂-VASc Scores and Number of Events Stratified According to Prior Diagnosis of Atrial Fibrillation

Table 3 Cox Model Estimates for Patients with and without Atrial Fibrillation for Death Outcome

Atrial 1	Fibrillation	No Atrial Fibrillation			
	HR (95% CI)		HR (95% CI)		
CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc	1.28(1.16,1.41)	CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc	1.30(1.22,1.35)		
suPAR (ng/mL)	1.16(1.11,1.21)	suPAR (ng/mL)	1.20(1.17,1.23)		
FDP (ug/mL)	1.01(1.00 1.02)	CRP (mg/dL)	1.01(1.00,1.01)		

suPAR: soluable urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor

FDP: fibrin degradation product

CRP: C-reactive protein

				. 0				
	C-statistics	95% CI	Δ C-statistics	95% CI	IDI	95% CI	NRI	95% CI
Atrial Fibrillation								
Model0	0.65	(0.60,0.70)						
Model1	0.71	(0.66,0.76)	0.06	(0.03,0.09)	0.12	(-0.01,0.29)	0.49	(-0.12,1.14)
No Atrial Fibrillation								
Model0	0.63	(0.58,0.69)						
Model1	0.71	(0.66,0.76)	0.08	(0.03,0.12)	-0.01	(-0.04,0.02)	-0.52	(-0.74, -0.16)

Table 4 Compare Models with and without Biomarkers by Using Death as the Outcome

For patients with Atrial Fibrillation, Model0 represents the model just with CHA₂DS₂-VASc score. Meodel1 represents CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, suPAR and FDP. For patients without Atrial Fibrillation, Model0 represents the model just with CHA₂DS₂-VASc score. Meodel1 represents CHA₂DS₂-VASc score, suPAR and CRP.



Atrial Fibrillation

No Atrial Fibrillation

Figure 1. Cumulative Incidence Functions for Patients with and without Atrial Fibrillation Categorized by CHA₂DS₂-VASc

Treating Stroke as the Outcome



Figure 2. Cumulative Incidence Functions for Patients with and without Atrial Fibrillation Categorized

by CHA₂DS₂-VASc Treating Death as the Outcome

References

- M. Zoni-Berisso, F. Lercari, T. Carazza, and S. Domenicucci, "Epidemiology of atrial fibrillation: European perspective.," *Clin. Epidemiol.*, vol. 6, pp. 213–20, 2014.
- [2] R. B. Schnabel, X. Yin, P. Gona, M. G. Larson, A. S. Beiser, D. D. McManus,
 C. Newton-Cheh, S. A. Lubitz, J. W. Magnani, P. T. Ellinor, S. Seshadri, P. A.
 Wolf, R. S. Vasan, E. J. Benjamin, and D. Levy, "50 year trends in atrial fibrillation prevalence, incidence, risk factors, and mortality in the Framingham Heart Study: a cohort study," *Lancet*, vol. 386, no. 9989, pp. 154–162, 2015.
- [3] R. G. Hart, L. a Pearce, R. McBride, R. M. Rothbart, and R. W. Asinger, "Factors associated with ischemic stroke during aspirin therapy in atrial fibrillation: analysis of 2012 participants in the SPAF I-III clinical trials. The Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation (SPAF) Investigators.," *Stroke.*, vol. 30, no. 6, pp. 1223–1229, 1999.
- [4] V. THIJS, "More bad news about atrial fibrillation," *Eur. Heart J.*, vol. 25, no. 19, pp. 1670–1671, 2004.
- [5] B. F. Gage, C. Van Walraven, L. Pearce, R. G. Hart, and P. J. Koudstaal, "Selecting Patients With Atrial Fibrillation for Anticoagulation Stroke Risk Stratification in Patients Taking Aspirin," pp. 2287–2292, 2004.
- [6] T. J. Wang, J. M. Massaro, D. Levy, P. A. Wolf, R. B. D. Agostino, M. G. Larson, W. B. Kannel, and E. J. Benjamin, "A Risk Score for Predicting Stroke or Death," vol. 290, no. 8, pp. 1049–1056, 2015.

- [7] National Collaborating Centre for Chronic Conditions (Great Britain). Atrial fibrillation: national clinical guideline for management in primary and secondary care[C]. *Royal College of Physicians*, 2006.
- [8] V. Fuster, L. E. Ryden, D. S. Cannom, H. J. Crijns, A. B. Curtis, K. A. Ellenbogen, J. L. Halperin, J.-Y. Le Heuzey, G. N. Kay, J. E. Lowe, S. B. Olsson, E. N. Prystowsky, J. L. Tamargo, S. Wann, S. G. Priori, J.-J. Blanc, A. Budaj, A. J. Camm, V. Dean, J. W. Deckers, C. Despres, K. Dickstein, J. Lekakis, K. McGregor, M. Metra, J. Morais, A. Osterspey, J. L. Tamargo, J. L. Zamorano, S. C. Smith, A. K. Jacobs, C. D. Adams, J. L. Anderson, E. M. Antman, J. L. Halperin, S. A. Hunt, R. Nishimura, J. P. Ornato, R. L. Page, and B. Riegel, *ACC/AHA/ESC 2006 guidelines for the management of patients with atrial fibrillation executive summary: A report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on practice guidelines and the European Society of Cardiology Commi, vol. 27, no. 16. 2006.*
- [9] W. H. Geerts, "Prevention of Venous Thromboembolism^{*}," *CHEST J.*, vol. 133, no. 6_suppl, p. 381S, 2008.
- [10] G. Y. H. Lip, "Refining Clinical Risk Stratification for Predicting Stroke and Thromboembolism in Atrial Fibrillation Using a Novel Risk Factor-Based Approach," *CHEST J.*, vol. 137, no. 2, p. 263, 2010.
- [11] A. Verma, J. a Cairns, L. B. Mitchell, L. Macle, I. G. Stiell, D. Gladstone, M. S. McMurtry, S. Connolly, J. L. Cox, P. Dorian, N. Ivers, K. Leblanc, S. Nattel, and J. S. Healey, "2014 focused update of the Canadian Cardiovascular Society

Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation.," *Can. J. Cardiol.*, vol. 30, no. 10, pp. 1114–30, 2014.

- [12] J. J. You, D. E. Singer, P. A. Howard, D. A. Lane, M. H. Eckman, M. C. Fang,
 E. M. Hylek, S. Schulman, A. S. Go, M. Hughes, F. A. Spencer, W. J. Manning,
 J. L. Halperin, and G. Y. H. Lip, "Antithrombotic Therapy for Atrial Fibrillation," *Chest*, vol. 141, no. 2 suppl, p. e5318–e5758, 2012.
- T.-F. Chao, C.-J. Liu, S.-J. Chen, K.-L. Wang, Y.-J. Lin, S.-L. Chang, L.-W. Lo,
 Y.-F. Hu, T.-C. Tuan, T.-J. Wu, T.-J. Chen, H.-M. Tsao, and S.-A. Chen, "Atrial
 Fibrillation and the Risk of Ischemic Stroke: Does It Still Matter in Patients With
 a CHA2DS2-VASc Score of 0 or 1?," *Stroke*, vol. 43, no. 10, pp. 2551–2555, 2012.
- [14] A. Pieri, T. O. Lopes, and A. A. Gabbai, "Stratification with CHA2DS2-VASc score is better than CHADS2 score in reducing ischemic stroke risk in patients with atrial fibrillation," *Int. J. Stroke*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 466–466, 2011.
- [15] A. J. Camm, P. Kirchhof, G. Y. H. Lip, U. Schotten, I. Savelieva, S. Ernst, I. C. Van Gelder, N. Al-Attar, G. Hindricks, B. Prendergast, H. Heidbuchel, O. Alfieri, A. Angelini, D. Atar, P. Colonna, R. De Caterina, J. De Sutter, A. Goette, B. Gorenek, M. Heldal, S. H. Hohloser, P. Kolh, J. Y. Le Heuzey, P. Ponikowski, F. H. Rutten, A. Vahanian, A. Auricchio, J. Bax, C. Ceconi, V. Dean, G. Filippatos, C. Funck-Brentano, R. Hobbs, P. Kearney, T. McDonagh, B. A. Popescu, Z. Reiner, U. Sechtem, P. A. Sirnes, M. Tendera, P. E. Vardas, P. Widimsky, V. Agladze, E. Aliot, T. Balabanski, C. Blomstrom-Lundqvist, A.

Capucci, H. Crijns, B. Dahlof, T. Folliguet, M. Glikson, M. Goethals, D. C. Gulba, S. Y. Ho, R. J. M. Klautz, S. Kose, J. McMurray, P. Perrone Filardi, P. Raatikainen, M. J. Salvador, M. J. Schalij, A. Shpektor, J. Sousa, J. Stepinska, H. Uuetoa, J. L. Zamorano, and I. Zupan, "Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: The Task Force for the Management of Atrial Fibrillation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC)," *Eur. Heart J.*, vol. 31, no. 19, pp. 2369–2429, 2010.

- [16] L. E. Odum, D. Pharm, K. a Cochran, D. S. Aistrope, and a Snella, "The CHADS 2 versus the New CHA 2 DS 2 -VASc Scoring Systems for Guiding Antithrombotic Treatment of Patients with Atrial Fibrillation : Review of the Literature and Recommendations for Use," vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 285–296, 2012.
- [17] D. Thompson, M. B. Pepys, and S. P. Wood, "The physiological structure of human C-reactive protein and its complex with phosphocholine," *Structure*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 169–177, 1999.
- [18] T. Emerging and R. Factors, "C-reactive protein concentration and risk of coronary heart disease, stroke, and mortality: an individual participant metaanalysis," *Lancet*, vol. 375, no. 9709, pp. 132–140, 2010.
- [19] Ritossa F. A new puffing pattern induced by temperature shock and DNP in Drosophila[J]. Experientia, 1962, 18(12): 571-573.
- [20] T. J. Min, W.-M. Jo, S. Y. Shin, and H. E. Lim, "The protective effect of heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) in atrial fibrillation in various cardiomyopathy conditions.," *Heart Vessels*, vol. 70, pp. 379–385, 2014.

- [21] P. J. Gaffney, T. EDGELL, L. J. CREIGHTON-KEMPSFORD, S. WHEELER, and E. TARELLI, "Fibrin degradation product (FnDP) assays: analysis of standardization issues and target antigens in plasma," *Br. J. Haematol.*, vol. 90, no. 1, pp. 187–194, 1995.
- [22] P. M. Ridker, N. Rifai, M. J. Stampfer, and C. H. Hennekens, "Plasma concentration of interleukin-6 and the risk of future myocardial infarction among apparently healthy men.," *Circulation*, vol. 101, no. 15, pp. 1767–1772, 2000.
- [23] Z. Hijazi, A. Siegbahn, U. Andersson, C. B. Granger, J. H. Alexander, D. Atar,
 B. J. Gersh, P. Mohan, V.-P. Harjola, J. Horowitz, S. Husted, E. M. Hylek, R. D.
 Lopes, J. J. V. McMurray, and L. Wallentin, "High-Sensitivity Troponin I for
 Risk Assessment in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: Insights From the
 Apixaban for Reduction in Stroke and Other Thromboembolic Events in Atrial
 Fibrillation (ARISTOTLE) Trial," *Circulation*, vol. 129, no. 6, pp. 625–634, 2014.
- [24] M. Thunø, B. MacHo, and J. Eugen-Olsen, "SuPAR: The molecular crystal ball," *Dis. Markers*, vol. 27, no. 3–4, pp. 157–172, 2009.
- [25] M. Persson, G. Ostling, G. Smith, V. Hamrefors, O. Melander, B. Hedblad, and
 G. Engström, "Soluble Urokinase Plasminogen Activator Receptor: A Risk
 Factor for Carotid Plaque, Stroke, and Coronary Artery Disease.," *Stroke*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 18–23, 2014.
- [26] L. Y. Lin, C. H. Lee, C. C. Yu, C. T. Tsai, L. P. Lai, J. J. Hwang, P. C. Chen, and J. L. Lin, "Risk factors and incidence of ischemic stroke in Taiwanese with

nonvalvular atrial fibrillation-A nation wide database analysis," *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 217, no. 1, pp. 292–295, 2011.

- [27] S. Y. Li, X. Q. Zhao, C. X. Wang, L. P. Liu, G. F. Liu, Y. long Wang, and Y. J. Wang, "One-year Clinical Prediction in Chinese Ischemic Stroke Patients Using the CHADS2 and CHA2DS2-VASc Scores: The China National Stroke Registry," *CNS Neurosci. Ther.*, vol. 18, no. 12, pp. 988–993, 2012.
- [28] N. Ghasemzadeh, R. S. Patel, D. J. Eapen, E. Veledar, H. Al Kassem, P. Manocha, M. Khayata, A. M. Zafari, L. Sperling, D. P. Jones, and A. A. Quyyumi, "Oxidative Stress Is Associated With Increased Pulmonary Artery Systolic Pressure in Humans," *Hypertension*, vol. 63, no. 6, pp. 1270–1275, 2014.
- [29] D. Y. Lin, L. J. Wei, and Z. Ying, "Checking the Cox model with cumulative sums of martingale-based residuals," *Biometrika*, vol. 80, no. 3, pp. 557–572, 1993.
- [30] R. J. G. Jason P. Fine, "A Proportional Hazards Model for the Subdistribution of a Competing Risk," J. Am. Stat. Assoc., vol. 94, no. 446, pp. 496–509, 1999.
- [31] H. Uno, T. Cai, M. J. Pencina, R. B. D'Agostino, and L. J. Wei, "On the Cstatistics for evaluating overall adequacy of risk prediction procedures with censored survival data," *Stat. Med.*, vol. 30, no. 10, pp. 1105–1117, 2011.
- [32] H. Uno, L. Tian, T. Cai, I. S. Kohane, and L. J. Wei, "A unified inference procedure for a class of measures to assess improvement in risk prediction systems with survival data," *Stat. Med.*, vol. 32, no. 14, pp. 2430–2442, 2013.

- [33] M. J. Pencina, R. B. D'Agostino, and Sr, "Evaluating discrimination of risk prediction models: The c statistic," *Jama*, vol. 314, no. 10, pp. 1063–1064, 2015.
- [34] Hosmer Jr D W, Lemeshow S. Applied logistic regression[M]. John Wiley & Sons, 2004.
- [35] L. Melgaard, A. Gorst-Rasmussen, D. A. Lane, L. H. Rasmussen, T. B. Larsen, and G. Y. H. Lip, "Assessment of the CHA2DS2-VASc Score in Predicting Ischemic Stroke, Thromboembolism, and Death in Patients With Heart Failure With and Without Atrial Fibrillation.," *Jama*, vol. 314, no. 10, pp. 1030–1038, 2015.
- [36] J. Eugen-Olsen, O. Andersen, A. Linneberg, S. Ladelund, T. W. Hansen, A. Langkilde, J. Petersen, T. Pielak, L. N. Møller, J. Jeppesen, S. Lyngbæk, M. Fenger, M. H. Olsen, P. R. Hildebrandt, K. Borch-Johnsen, T. Jørgensen, and S. B. Haugaard, "Circulating soluble urokinase plasminogen activator receptor predicts cancer, cardiovascular disease, diabetes and mortality in the general population," *J. Intern. Med.*, vol. 268, no. 3, pp. 296–308, 2010.
- [37] A. Manuscript and C. Outcomes, "NIH Public Access," vol. 62, no. 4, pp. 329– 337, 2014.
- [38] L. Melgaard, A. Gorst-Rasmussen, D. A. Lane, L. H. Rasmussen, T. B. Larsen, and G. Y. H. Lip, "Assessment of the CHA 2 DS 2 -VASc Score in Predicting Ischemic Stroke, Thromboembolism, and Death in Patients With Heart Failure With and Without Atrial Fibrillation," *Jama*, vol. 314, no. 10, p. 1030, 2015.